STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA
IN THE GENERAL COURT OF JUSTICE


SUPERIOR COURT DIVISION

COUNTY OF RUTHERFORD
FILE NO.: 08 CVS 1283 
	HERSCHEL ALLEN and wife, ELIZABETH P. ALLEN; SVEN RONNY CARLSSON and wife, SUSAN P. CARLSSON A/K/A 
CARLSSON INVESTMENTS, LLC; WAYNE COX and wife, JOSEPHINE COX; GLENN A. DAY and wife, KATHERINE KOSTOFF-DAY; CALVIN C. HENDERSON and wife, ELAINE W. HENDERSON;  REUBEN T. JOY and wife,  KRYSTAL K. JOY; JOHN J. KASIANOWICZ and wife, RACHEL H. KASIANOWICZ; JILL ANNE LYCAN; GLENN M. SWARTZ, JR. and wife, DAWNA L. SWARTZ; DAVID LEE WOOD; STEPHEN PETER BLOOM; MARCOS I. RUBERT and wife, KATHRYN M. RUBERT; and BRIAN J. KREBS



Plaintiffs,


vs.



LAND RESOURCE GROUP OF NORTH CAROLINA, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company,  LAND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT GROUP, INC., a  Georgia corporation, LAND RESOURCE GROUP, INC., a Georgia corporation, LR BUFFALO CREEK, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company; LAND RESOURCE, LLC a/k/a

LAND RESOURCE COMPANIES, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company; MIKE FLASKEY; J. ROBERT WARD; PAUL BEIDEL; ROB VACKO; SCRIPPS NETWORK INTERACTIVE d/b/a HGTV; WACHOVIA BANK, N.A.; MITCH BEN MILLER; SOUTHERN H.O.A. MANAGEMENT, LLC; CLARK CHAMPION; TAMMY MIKESELL; ROBERT L. HULLETT;  HOWARD HULLETT APPRAISALS AND REALTY INC.; SHANNON GLOVER; EDDIE H. GILBERT; LYNN SESSOMS; EHG APPRAISAL SERVICES;  SUSAN GARREN; MARIE A. FOX; HOMEFOCUS VALUATION  SERVICES, LLC; TWO DAY APPRAISAL; RANDALL COCHRAN; JEANETTE MANNER-JONES; BRANCH BANKING & TRUST COMPANY; BANK OF AMERICA CORPORATION; JOHN DOE OFFICERS OF LAND RESOURCE GROUP OF NORTH CAROLINA,LLC; JOHN DOE OFFICERS OF LAND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT GROUP, INC.;  JOHN DOE OFFICERS OF LAND RESOURCE GROUP, INC.; JOHN DOE OFFICERS OF LR BUFFALO CREEK, LLC; JOHN DOE OFFICERS OF LAND RESOURCE, LLC a/k/a LAND RESOURCE COMPANIES, LLC; JOHN DOE DIRECTORS OF LAND RESOURCE GROUP OF NORTH CAROLINA,LLC; JOHN DOE DIRECTORS OF LAND RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT GROUP, INC.;  JOHN DOE DIRCTORS  OF LAND RESOURCE GROUP, INC.; JOHN DOE DIRECTORS OF LR BUFFALO CREEK, LLC; JOHN DOE DIRECTORS OF LAND RESOURCE, LLC a/k/a LAND RESOURCE COMPANIES, LLC; JOHN DOE APPRAISER; and  JOHN DOE REAL ESTATE AGENT. 


              Defendants.
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	COMPLAINT 


COME NOW Plaintiffs Herschel Allen and wife, Elizabeth Allen, et al., by and through their undersigned counsel complaining of the Defendants Land Resource Group of North Carolina (“LR North Carolina”), Land Resource Development Group, Inc. (“LR Development”), Land Resource Group, Inc. (“LR Group”), LR Buffalo Creek, LLC (“Buffalo Creek”), Land Resource, LLC a/k/a Land Resource Companies, LLC (“Land Resource”), Mike Flaskey (“Flaskey”), J. Robert Ward (“Ward”), Paul Beidel (“Beidel”), Rob Vacko (“Vacko”), Scripps Network Interactive, d/b/a HGTV (“HGTV”), Wachovia Bank, N.A (“Wachovia”), Mitch Ben Miller (“Miller”), Southern H.O.A. Management, LLC (“SHOA”), Clark Champion (“Champion”), Tammy Mikesell (“Mikesell”), Robert L. Hullett , Howard Hullett Appraisals and Realty, Inc. (“collectively, Defendant Hullett”), Shannon Glover (“Glover”), Eddie H. Gilbert, Lynn Sessoms, EHG Appraisal Services (“collectively, Defendant Gilbert”), Susan Garren (“Garren”), Marie A. Fox (“Fox”), Homefocus Valuation Services, LLC (“Homefocus”), Two Day Appraisal (“Two Day”), Randall Cochran (“Cochran”), Jeanette Manner-Jones (“Manner-Jones”), Branch Banking & Trust Company (“BB&T”), Bank of America Corporation (“BoA”), John Doe Officers of Land Resource Group of North Carolina, John Doe Officers of Land Resource Development Group, Inc., John Doe Officers of Land Resource Group, Inc., John Doe Officers of LR Buffalo Creek, LLC, John Doe Officers of Land Resource, LLC a/k/a Land Resource Companies, LLC, John Doe Directors of Land Resource Group of North Carolina, John Doe Directors of Land Resource Development Group, Inc., John Doe Directors of Land Resource Group, Inc., John Doe Directors of LR Buffalo Creek, LLC, John Doe Directors of Land Resource, LLC a/k/a Land Resource Companies, LLC, John Doe Appraiser, and John Doe Real Estate Agent alleging and saying as follows:

PARTIES
1. Herschel Allen and wife, Elizabeth Allen (the “Allens”) are citizens and residents of Dunwoody, Georgia.
2. Sven Ronny Carlsson and wife, Susan P. Carlsson a/k/a Carlsson Investments, LLC, (the “Carlssons”) are citizens and residents of Germantown, Tennessee.
3. Wayne Cox and wife, Josephine Cox (the “Coxes”) are citizens and residents of San Diego, California.

4. 
Glenn A. Day and wife, Katherine Kostoff-Day (the “Days”) are citizens and residents of San Diego, California.

5. Calvin C. Henderson and wife, Elaine W. Henderson (the “Hendersons”) are citizens and residents of Rockville, Maryland.

6. Reuben T. Joy and wife, Krystal K. Joy (the “Joys”) are citizens and residents of Simi Valley, California.

7. John J. Kasianowicz and wife, Rachel H. Kasianowicz (the “Kasianowiczes”) are citizens and residents of Darnestown, Maryland.
8. Jill Anne Lycan (“Lycan”) is a citizen and resident of Tomball, Texas.

9. Glenn M. Swartz, Jr. and wife, Dawna L. Swartz (the “Swartzes”) are citizens and residents of Mount Airy, Maryland.

10. David Lee Wood (“Wood”) is a citizen and resident of San Francisco, California.

11. Stephen Peter Bloom (“Bloom”) is a citizen and resident of San Francisco, California.

12. Marcos I. Rubert and wife, Kathryn M. Rubert (the “Ruberts”) are citizens and residents of Celebration, Florida.

13. Brian J. Krebs (“Krebs”) is a citizen and resident of Alpharetta, Georgia.

14. The Plaintiffs all own land in Rutherford County, North Carolina.

15. Defendant Buffalo Creek is a Georgia limited liability company, whose registered agent for service of process is National Registered Agents Inc. with a registered mailing address of 120 Penmarc Drive, Suite 118, Raleigh, North Carolina 27603.  
16. Defendant Land Resource is a Georgia limited liability company, whose registered agent for service of process is National Registered Agents Inc. with a registered mailing address of 120 Penmarc Drive, Suite 118, Raleigh, North Carolina 27603.
17. Upon information and belief, LRC Realty is a subsidiary of Defendant LRC and a real estate brokerage firm that marketed and sold the lots in Grey Rock and collected real estate commissions therefrom.

18. Upon information and belief, Defendant Flaskey was at all relevant times CEO of Defendant Land Resource.  Defendant Flaskey engaged in acts subjecting himself to the jurisdiction and venue of this court.

19. Upon information and belief, Defendant Ward was at all relevant times Founder and Chairman of Defendant Land Resource.  Defendant Ward engaged in acts subjecting himself to the jurisdiction and venue of this court.
20. Upon information and belief, Defendant Beidel was at all relevant times President and COO of Defendant Land Resource.  Defendant Beidel engaged in acts subjecting himself to the jurisdiction and venue of this court.

21. Upon information and belief, Defendant Vacko was at all relevant times CFO of Defendant Land Resource.  Defendant Vacko engaged in acts subjecting himself to the jurisdiction and venue of this court.

22. Defendant HGTV is a cable T.V. Network which upon information and belief is owned by Scripps Network Interactive, which is headquartered in Cincinnati, Ohio.

23. Defendant Wachovia is a nationally chartered bank headquartered in Charlotte, North Carolina.

24. Defendant Miller is a citizen and resident of the State of North Carolina, and is the attorney in fact and authorized agent of LR Buffalo Creek, LLC, with a registered mailing address of 120 Penmarc Drive, Suite 118, Raleigh, North Carolina 27603.

25. Defendant SHOA is a Georgia limited liability company whose registered agent for service of process is National Registered Agents Inc. with a registered mailing address of 3761 Venture Drive, Duluth, Georgia 30096.

26. Upon information and belief, Defendant Champion was at all relevant times Director of Community Operations for SHOA and has engaged in activities subjecting himself to the jurisdiction and venue of this court.
27. Upon information and belief, Defendant Mikesell was at all relevant times Association Manager for SHOA and has engaged in activities subjecting herself to the jurisdiction and venue of this court.
28. Upon information and belief, Defendant Manner-Jones was at all relevant times General Manager for SHOA and has engaged in activities subjecting herself to the jurisdiction and venue of this court.
29. Upon information and belief, Defendant Howard Hullett Appraisals & Realty, Inc. is a North Carolina corporation whose registered agent for service is Howard Hullett, 2391 South Center Street, Hickory, North Carolina 28602
30. Upon information and belief, Defendant Robert L. Hullett is a licensed appraiser and a citizen and resident of the State of North Carolina.
31. Upon information and belief, Defendant Shannon Glover is a citizen and resident of Bluff City, Tennessee.

32. Upon information and belief, Defendant EHG Appraisal Services, Inc., is a North Carolina corporation whose registered agent for service is Edwin H. Gilbert, One Tryon Place, Suite 104, Tryon, North Carolina 28782.
33. Upon information and belief, Defendant Gilbert is a licensed appraiser and a citizen and resident of Rutherford County, North Carolina.

34. Upon information and belief, Defendant Sessoms is a licensed appraiser and a citizen and resident of the State of North Carolina.

35. Upon information and belief, Defendant Garren is a licensed appraiser and a citizen and resident of the State of North Carolina.

36. Upon information and belief, Defendant Cochran is a North Carolina licensed appraiser and a citizen and resident of the State of South Carolina.

37. Defendant Fox is a citizen and resident of the State of North Carolina and is the attorney in fact and authorized agent of LR Buffalo Creek, LLC, with a registered mailing address of 120 Penmarc Drive, Suite 118, Raleigh, North Carolina 27603.

38. Defendant BB&T is a national commercial bank headquartered in Winston Salem, North Carolina.
39. Defendant BoA is a national commercial bank headquartered in Charlotte, North Carolina.
40. Upon information and belief, there are or may be other Directors of the LRC Defendants who are named by the alias, Defendant John Doe Directors.
41. Upon information and belief, there are or may be other Officers of the LRC Defendants who are named by the alias, Defendant John Doe Officers.
42. Upon information and belief, there are or may be other Appraisers who are named by the alias, Defendant John Doe Appraiser.
43. Upon information and belief, there are or may be other Real Estate Agents who are named by the alias, Defendant John Doe Real Estate Agent.
JURISDICTION

44. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 43, above.

45. Many of the events giving rise to the action herein occurred in Rutherford County, North Carolina.  The land at issue in this action is located in Rutherford and Buncombe Counties, North Carolina.
46. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and subject matter and this forum is a proper venue.
47. Many of the Defendants are citizens and residents of the State of North Carolina.

48. Defendants have purposely availed themselves of the privileges and benefits of the State of North Carolina.
GENERAL CLAIMS
49. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 48, above.
50. Upon information and belief, Defendant Land Resource is the parent company of a number of subsidiaries that collectively form a company consisting of a close network of investors that tend to act as a single enterprise offering consumers various real estate properties in varying places throughout the country.
51. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant hereto, Defendants LR Development, LR Group, LR-North Carolina, Buffalo Creek, and LRC Realty were subsidiaries of, were employed by or affiliated with Defendant Land Resource and aided, abetted, and assisted Defendant Land Resource in developing and operating a residential real estate development in Rutherford County, North Carolina, commonly referred to as “Grey Rock” or “Grey Rock at Lake Lure”.
52. LR Development, LR Group, LRG-North Carolina, Buffalo Creek, LRC Realty and Land Resource will be collectively referred to as “LRC” or “LRC Defendants” herein.

53. The development of Grey Rock and the actions of Defendant LRC related thereto were for the purpose of selling residential lots therein and planning, designing, managing and maintaining roads, common amenities and other infrastructure as set forth herein.

54. Grey Rock was to be a residential community comprised of approximately 4,000 acres with approximately 900 home sites located in the mountains of Rutherford County, North Carolina.

55. Upon information and belief, in or about 2003, Defendant LRC purchased the 4,000 acre Grey Rock property for less than Twelve Million and 00/100 Dollars ($12,000,000.00) and subdivided said property into approximately 900 lots and numerous community areas. 
56. Upon information and belief, Defendant Wachovia financed LRC/Buffalo Creek’s purchase of the land constituting the Grey Rock Development.

57. All sales lots contained within Grey Rock are less than 20 acres in size.

58. Upon information and belief, Defendant LRC provided for the division of Grey Rock into four phases of varying sizes all to be part of a common promotional plan and sold as lots in Grey Rock.
59. Buffalo Creek is the LRC entity which held title to the Grey Rock lots before those lots were sold to Plaintiffs.  
60. In marketing its properties, Defendant LRC used interstate mail, electronic mail, the internet and interstate telephone systems along with additional print media to target both in and out of state residents.  Such marketing efforts were done in connection with Grey Rock and in furtherance of Defendant LRC’s endeavors.

61. Additionally, Defendant LRC used the mail, facsimile, electronic mail, the internet, and interstate telephone systems to secure execution and signature of the purchase and sale of residential lots, including those contained in Grey Rock, along with all documents related thereto.

62. Defendants advertised regarding Grey Rock throughout the State of North Carolina and across North Carolina state lines to persons throughout the United States, by, including but not limited to, the use of mass mailings, television/radio ads and programs, newspaper, internet, magazine ads and other print media.

63. Defendants held Grey Rock out as an upscale community with numerous amenities including but not limited to:

a. 
An exclusive Lake Club;
b. 
Boat Slips;
c. Multiple clubhouses with heated pools;
d. Equestrian Center;
e. Hiking trails; 
f. Overlook Stations;
g. Campground;
h. Retail Village;
i. Gated entrances;
j. Tennis courts; and
k. 2000 acres of common areas.
64. On January 4, 2005, Mr. Krebs, in reliance on the acts and omissions of the Defendants purchased Lot 82, Phase 1A of Grey Rock at Lake Lure from Defendant Buffalo Creek.

65. On March 3, 2005 the Carlssons, in reliance on the acts and omissions of the Defendants purchased Lot 157, Phase 1B of Grey Rock at Lake Lure from Defendant Buffalo Creek.

66. On March 15, 2005 the Allens, in reliance on the acts and omissions of the Defendants purchased Lot 167, Phase 1B of Grey Rock at Lake Lure from Defendant Buffalo Creek.
67. On April 19, 2005 the Swartzes, in reliance on the acts and omissions of the Defendants purchased Lot 187, Phase 1B of Grey Rock at Lake Lure from Defendant Buffalo Creek.

68. On September 6, 2005 the Days, in reliance on the acts and omissions of the Defendants purchased Lot 209, Phase 2A of Grey Rock at Lake Lure from Defendant Buffalo Creek.

69. On September 7, 2005 the Joys, in reliance on the acts and omissions of the Defendants purchased Lot 317, Phase 2B of Grey Rock at Lake Lure from Defendant Buffalo Creek.

70. On September 15, 2005 the Ruberts, in reliance on the acts and omissions of the Defendants purchased Lot 299, Phase 2A of Grey Rock at Lake Lure from Defendant Buffalo Creek.

71. The Coxes, in reliance on the acts and omissions of the Defendants purchased two lots of Grey Rock at Lake Lure from Defendant Buffalo Creek:

a. On September 22, 2005 Josephine M. Cox purchased Lot 76, Phase 1A of Grey Rock at Lake Lure;
b. On October 10, 2005 the Coxes purchased Lot 55, Phase 1A of Grey Rock at Lake Lure.

72. The Kasianowiczes, in reliance on the acts and omissions of the Defendants purchased two lots of Grey Rock at Lake Lure from Defendant Buffalo Creek:
a. On July 18, 2006 the Kasianowiczes purchased Lot 645, Phase 3C of Grey Rock at Lake Lure;
b. On August 18, 2006 the Kasianowiczes purchased Lot 644, Phase 3C of Grey Rock at Lake Lure.

73. On September 19, 2006 the Hendersons, in reliance on the acts and omissions of the Defendants purchased Lot 577, Phase 3B of Grey Rock at Lake Lure from Defendant Buffalo Creek.

74. On November 30, 2006 Ms. Lycan, in reliance on the acts and omissions of the Defendants purchased Lot 31, Phase 1A of Grey Rock at Lake Lure.

75. On December 26, 2006 Mr. Wood and Mr. Bloom, in reliance on the acts and omissions of the Defendants purchased Lot 671, Phase 3C of Grey Rock at Lake Lure from Defendant Buffalo Creek.
76. Prior to Plaintiffs purchasing their lots, LRC held various property launch events for Grey Rock wherein prospective purchasers would be invited by LRC to the site.  LRC would pay for the prospective purchasers’ room and board, as well as provide free lodging, food and drink, helicopter rides and other entertainment to induce customers to purchase lots at Grey Rock.

77. At such property launch events and/or the Grand Opening Event as later described herein, Defendants used false and misleading sales tactics to induce Plaintiffs to purchase.  The Defendants used such tactics as the use of false walkie-talkie communications during high pressure sales talks pursuant to which Defendants would purport to be communicating with other sales associates at Grey Rock who would falsely represent that other lots had just been sold.  Specifically, Defendant Miller made representations to Plaintiffs that multiple parties were looking at the lots Plaintiffs were inquiring about and that they could only hold the lot for approximately an hour or that other parties were otherwise prepared to purchase the lot at that time, and the use of “inside” sales to falsely inflate property values.  
78. Several Defendants named herein were in attendance at such events and acted in conjunction with Defendant LRC in the marketing, promotion and sale of property at Grey Rock. 
79. Defendants marketed Grey Rock as “a luxury mountain community” with large tracts to be left as part of a natural preserve.

80. Additionally, Defendants marketed Grey Rock as a gated community which would have numerous amenities such as an equestrian center, trails, multiple club houses and a lake club to be located on Lake Lure.  Said representations were made in numerous marketing materials which were displayed over the internet and mailed across state lines to the Plaintiffs herein who do not reside in North Carolina.  Additionally, those representations were personally made to the Plaintiffs by numerous Defendants.
81. The amenities mentioned herein further appeared on the subdivision plat and various architectural renderings which were provided to Plaintiffs by Defendant LRC or agents thereof.

82. In addition to the above representations, the following representations were made to the Plaintiffs in various correspondence and marketing materials as set forth herein:
a. Upon information and belief, Defendant Flaskey, in a letter dated December 29, 2007, sent representation of the Master Clubhouse, Lake Club and West Gatehouse to all Grey Rock at Lake Lure lot owners, including Plaintiffs.
b. Upon information and belief, the Plaintiffs were provided a Grey Rock Property Owner’s Manual. 
c. Upon information and belief, the Grey Rock Property Owner’s Manual gives the estimated completion dates of the roads in Grey Rock as follows:

i. Phase 1A roads to be completed by September 2005;

ii. Phase 1B roads to be completed by September 2005;

iii. Phase 2A roads to be completed by September 2007;

iv. Phase 2B roads to be completed by September 2007;

v. Phase 3A roads to be completed by June 2008; and

vi. Phase 3B roads to be completed by June 2008.

d. Upon information and belief, the Grey Rock Property Owner’s Manual states “[t]he lots within the subdivision will be served by wells installed by the developer.  Each well will serve one (1) to five (5) lots.”

e. Upon information and belief, the Grey Rock Property Owner’s Manual states that “Duke Power, a publicly regulated utility, whose address is 957 Spartanburg Hwy, Hendersonville, NC 28793, will provide electrical services to the majority of the subdivision.”

f. Upon information and belief, the Grey Rock Property Owner’s Manual states that the estimated date of construction for the following amenities are as follows:

i. Swimming Pool – start of construction June 2005 – available for use December 2008;

ii. Clubhouse – start of construction June 2005 – available for use December 2008;

iii. Tennis Courts (2) – start of construction June 2005 – available for use December 2008;

iv. Equestrian Center – start of construction June 2005 – available for use December 2008;

v. Lake Club – start of construction June 2005 – available for use December 2008; and

vi. Campgrounds – start of construction June 2005 – available for use December 2008.

83. Upon information and belief, Defendant LRC along with Defendant Ward, Defendant Flaskey, Defendant Beidel and Defendant Vacko represented to the Plaintiffs in numerous marketing materials and communications proposed development which included, but was not limited to: 
a. Paved Roads;

b. Wells;
c. Septic Systems; and
d. Utilities.

84. Upon information and belief, Defendant LRC along with Defendant Ward, Defendant Flaskey, Defendant Beidel and Defendant Vacko represented to the Plaintiffs in numerous marketing materials and communications proposed amenities which included, but were not limited to: 

a. Exclusive Lake Club; 

b. Boat Slips;

c. Multiple clubhouses with heated pools;

d. Equestrian Center;

e. Hiking trails;

f. Overlook Stations;

g. Campground;

h. Retail Village;

i. Gated entrances;

j. Tennis courts; and

k. 2000 acres of common areas.

85. Upon information and belief, Defendant LRC along with Defendant Ward, Defendant Flaskey, Defendant Beidel and Defendant Vacko made material misrepresentations to the Plaintiffs regarding the proposed development and amenities at Grey Rock in Lake Lure. 

86. At all times relevant hereto, all other named Defendants acted in concert with and aided and abetted Defendant LRC in the marketing, promotion and sale of lots at Grey Rock as more specifically set forth herein.

87. Upon information and belief, Defendant LRC sent out a press release regarding “Land Resource Companies Announces HGTV Dream Home 2006”.  This press release described Grey Rock as “one of the most exclusive luxury mountain living communities on the East Coast…” and “[l]ocated in highly-desirable western North Carolina, Grey Rock is a gated, master-planned community which overlooks spectacular Lake Lure” and  “the community offers generously-sized, forested homesites with exclusive access to Lake Lure.  Also, a large portion of the property has been left untouched, creating a preserved, natural environment for residents to enjoy.  From equestrian facilities and hiking trails to numerous natural waterfalls, multiple clubhouses to a private Lake Club, Grey Rock at Lake Lure offers a once-in-a-lifetime living experience you won’t want to overlook.”

88. Upon information and belief, Defendant Flaskey sent out a newsletter dated April 11, 2008, which provided:

a. The necessary permits are in place to commence with the work on the road for Phase 1 and 2 this Spring; 

b. Completion for the well road in Phase 1, where approximately 50% of the supply needed for this phase will come from has been confirmed; and

c. Duke Energy will continue with the installation of the main power feed through Phase 2 this Spring.

89. Upon information and belief, Defendant Flaskey also stated in the above mentioned newsletter regarding the amenities that:

a. The east entry gatehouse is “nearing completion with final sitework preparations under way”;

b. Construction of the Lake Club is scheduled to start this Summer; and

c. The west gate clubhouse and gatehouse are “substantially complete with site work scheduled later this year.”

90. Upon information and belief, Defendants made material misrepresentations to the Plaintiffs and other customers regarding the proposed development, construction schedules, and amenities at Grey Rock in Lake Lure.

91. Defendant SHOA is the property owner’s association for Grey Rock at Lake Lure.

92. Upon information and belief, Defendant SHOA is a subsidiary of and/or alter ego of Defendant Land Resource. 

93. Upon information and belief, Defendant SHOA collected monies each year for association dues from all the Grey Rock property owners, including Plaintiffs.  These dues were paid to Grey Rock at Lake Lure Community Association.

94. Upon information and belief, SHOA, by and through its officers, directors and agents, Defendant Champion, Director of Community Operations for SHOA, Defendant Mikesell, Association Manager of SHOA, and Defendant Manner-Jones, SHOA General Manager made material misrepresentations to Plaintiffs regarding the progress of construction on amenities at Grey Rock at Lake Lure and the use of funds paid by Plaintiffs.

95. SHOA and its employees, agents, officers and directors owed Plaintiffs a fiduciary duty to properly manage the funds contributed by Plaintiffs and to otherwise safeguard those funds and to monitor and accurately convey to Plaintiffs the progress of construction and any issues therewith, and to see that all development activities were appropriate and properly constructed and funded.
96. Upon information and belief, Defendant Glover and Defendant Miller represented to the Plaintiffs in numerous marketing materials and communications, both verbal and written, proposed development which included, but was not limited to: 


a. Paved Roads;
b. Wells;
c. Septic Systems; and
d. Utilities

97. Upon information and belief, Defendant Glover and Defendant Miller represented to the Plaintiffs in numerous marketing materials and communications, both verbal and written, proposed amenities which included, but were not limited to: 

a. Exclusive Lake Club;
b. Boat Slips;
c. Multiple Clubhouses with heated pools;
d. Equestrian Center;
e. Hiking trails;
f. Overlook Stations;
g. Campground;
h. Retail Village;
i. Gated entrances;
j. Tennis courts; and
k. 2000 acres of common areas.
98. Upon information and belief, in a letter from SHOA undated but enclosed with a copy of the 2007 budget for the Grey Rock at Lake Lure Community Association, Defendant Manner-Jones, SHOA General Manager, stated, “Southern H.O.A. Management has worked diligently to prepare a budget which would allow funding for all anticipated expenses of the association in the coming year and, also provide for the respectable contribution toward the reserve fund for the future repair and replacement for the association’s amenities.” Further, that “[t]he 2007 budget allows for only a few months of the maintenance and operation of the new Lake House anticipated to be completed late summer 2007.  The association will have full responsibility for the Lake House during 2008.”
99. Upon information and belief, Defendant Glover sent a letter to the Plaintiffs wherein he warranted and stated “[t]his new community, Grey Rock at Lake Lure, is soon going to set a new standard for premier mountain community living.”  Further that, “[t]here will be three clubhouse/pavilions, two equestrian centers, a remote camping area, as well as various walking, hiking, biking and horseback riding trials.  Many observation points will be located throughout Grey Rock.  These areas may consist of anything from beautiful decks with hot tubs on high overlooks, where the view goes as far as the eye can see, to a simple bench situated just a few steps from one of several beautiful waterfalls tucked deep down in cool valleys.”

100. Upon information and belief, a letter from the SHOA dated May 19, 2006, signed by Defendant Champion, Director of Community Operation, states that “[w]hen property is sold in the early pre-development stage [as done here in Grey Rock], purchasers are advised that the infrastructure and amenities will be completed over time in compliance with the estimated schedule.”  Defendant Champion also comments on the amenities warranting and saying “at this time all of the originally proposed amenities are expected to be completed in accordance with the estimated schedule” and that “[t]hese and the other amenities proposed in the Property Report are right on schedule and anticipated to be completed by the end of 2008 as stated in the Property Report.”

101. Upon information and belief, LRC distributed a color brochure of Grey Rock at Lake Lure, an HGTV Dream Home Fact Sheet which contained the following statement, “[t]he [Dream Home] is in the community of Grey Rock at Lake Lure, a high end mountain community operated by the Land Resource Companies, out of Atlanta, GA.”
102. Throughout the marketing materials provided to Plaintiffs and potential home purchasers, HGTV was held out as a partner of LRC in the development of Grey Rock.  HGTV’s logo adorns a substantial amount of the marketing materials provided including letterhead sent from LRC.
103. HGTV held itself out, or allowed itself to be held out, as a partner with LRC.  
104. HGTV either created, instructed or allowed various marketing and media materials to associate HGTV to be in partnership with LRC in the Grey Rock Development.
105. HGTV in association with LRC implied and represented that LRC and Grey Rock were “selected” for a Dream Home for objective and appropriate criteria including quality when in fact, upon information and belief, LRC paid or gave consideration of over One Million Dollars ($ 1,000,000.00) to be “selected”.
106. Neither LRC nor HGTV disclosed the conflict of interest created thereby.
107. The Defendant LRC hid this fact and instead misrepresented that LRC was selected based on other standards.
108. Defendants made representations regarding Grey Rock, HGTV, and the HGTV Dream Home in an effort to induce Plaintiffs to believe that based in part on HGTV Dream Home being located in Grey Rock, and as part of the HGTV representations, that the amenities represented to Plaintiffs would be constructed and that this would otherwise be an upscale development.
109. Additionally, Plaintiffs were informed by Defendant Miller that due to the HGTV selection of Grey Rock for a Dream Home, the values of land in the development would substantially increase.
110. Based upon the representations of the Defendants and the HGTV Dream Home being located in Grey Rock, many Plaintiffs made the decision to purchase lots within Grey Rock. 
111. Upon information and belief, HGTV at all times relevant hereto acted in concert with and aided and abetted LRC and the other Defendants in marketing, promoting and selling property at Grey Rock and knew or should have known of the misrepresentations being made to Plaintiffs and potential purchasers.  
112. Upon information and belief, this brochure also contained a list of “Recognized Builders at Grey Rock at Lake Lure” and a “North Carolina Lender Information Sheet”. 

113. Upon information and belief, the “North Carolina Lender Information Sheet” contained the following banks:

a. Bank of America with Mindy Johnson;
b. Branch Bank and Trust with Lenore Henry;
c. Bank of America with Marie Sladky; and
d. Wachovia with Becky Polosky.
114. Upon information and belief, the above named lenders were engaged in a joint venture or common enterprise with LRC and did otherwise exceed their ordinary course of dealing, promotion, marketing, and sale of lots within Grey Rock in conjunction with LRC.  Plaintiffs do not know what if any consideration was exchanged in order to be listed on the “Lender Information Sheet”.
115. Upon information and belief, each lender made additional misrepresentations to the Plaintiffs regarding the value of their lots and the development of the Grey Rock property as set forth herein.

116. Upon information and belief, Defendant Wachovia has declared the Note which Buffalo Creek and/or other LRC Defendants executed as part of its purchase of the land which became Grey Rock to be in default.
117. Upon information and belief, pursuant to the alleged default under the indebtedness with Wachovia, Grey Rock is now subject to foreclosure proceedings.

118. Wachovia received consideration for the release of properties to each separate owner, including the Plaintiffs, who purchased property in the Grey Rock to satisfy the LRC Note and Deed of Trust.  

119. Wachovia’s release of each lot also includes a pro-rata release to all common areas, roads, amenities and improvements.

120. The Grey Rock Grand Opening event was held between April 28, 2005 and May 1, 2005.  LRC had some Plaintiffs and other purchasers enter into reservation agreements prior to these dates.
121. Upon information and belief, LRC had the Plaintiffs sign the reservation agreements before providing them with a Property Report as required by the Interstate Land Sales Act (“ILSA”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1703 and 1707.

122. LRC provided Property Reports to the Plaintiffs, but said reports were inadequate, misleading and otherwise not in conformance with the ILSA.

123. In part, the Property Reports indicated that paved asphalt roads would be completed in Phase 1A and Phase 1B by September 2005. To date, the pavement of said roads has not been completed despite the paved road to the HGTV Dream Home having been constructed in less than one (1) year, during the time Phase 1B roads were to be constructed.  

124. In part, the Property Reports indicated that paved asphalt roads would be completed in Phase 2A and Phase 2B by September, 2007.  To date, the pavement of said roads has not been completed.

125. As of the date of filing this Action, most of the Plaintiffs’ properties are not adjacent to paved roads.  Some properties may have rough cut roads or gravel road access while others remain completely inaccessible by automobiles because there are no roads. 
126. Upon information and belief, Defendant LRC is unable to construct the roads as promised or to otherwise meet its contractual obligations.

127. In addition to the above misrepresentations, LRC and other Defendants made varying misrepresentations in an effort to prevent or otherwise keep the Plaintiffs from pursuing their legal rights pursuant to the Interstate Land Sales Act as well as all applicable State and Federal rights and causes of actions.  Plaintiffs reasonably relied on these misrepresentations to their detriment.  Had Defendants not made these representations, Plaintiffs would have pursued legal action at an earlier date and more timely asserted their rights.

128. Each Plaintiff herein entered into a standard form agreement for lot purchase (the “Contracts”) which were substantially the same in substance.  

129. Pursuant to the Contracts, and other representations of the Defendants, Plaintiffs reasonably believed that LRC would provide within a reasonable time paved roads, electric service lines, telephone lines, high-speed internet and wells.

130. Plaintiffs reasonably believed that the wells would be timely constructed and installed to provide an adequate water source to sustain residential homes.  Each lot was being sold and marketed as a residential lot suitable for construction of a single family residence.

131. Plaintiffs reasonably believed that each of their lots would be suitable for the permitting and installation of a septic system to sustain a residential home.

132. Additionally, the Property Reports indicated that wells would be provided for the lots, with each well serving between one (1) and five (5) lots.  Further, that in the event Defendant LRC did not provide access to a productive well, the purchasers’ money would be applied to the purchase of another lot of equal or greater value, unless no lots were available, in which case the purchasers’ money would be refunded in exchange for a conveyance of the title to the property from the purchaser back to the developer.  To date, LRC has not provided access to productive wells to any of the Plaintiffs. 

133. Defendant LRC represented that one well for every one (1) to five (5) lots would cost an estimated Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($5,000.00) per property owner.   Upon information and belief, Defendant LRC’s representations regarding the wells were made without having had sufficient engineering or hydrology testing done to form a reasonable opinion as to the cost and feasibility of such water supplies.  Said representations were otherwise arbitrary and capricious and made with the intent to deceive potential purchasers and to promote the immediate sale of lots and to bolster profits.

134. In addition to the above misrepresentations, the Property Reports indicated that the construction of certain community amenities including, but not limited to, swimming pools, tennis courts, and an equestrian center would begin in June 2005 and be completed by December 2008.  To date, the construction of such amenities has not even begun.
135. Further, the Cost Sheets contained in the Property Reports are incomplete in that no value is indicated for some items and no value or range of values for the total anticipated cost of ownership are given.

136. Upon information and belief, LRC negligently or intentionally slowed down the construction of improvements to the Grey Rock Development as part of a scheme for Defendants’ personal gain.
137. Upon information and belief, in furtherance of this scheme, the LRC Defendants initiated disputes with vendors, subcontractors, contractors and suppliers, failed to timely pay such persons, failed to fully pay, or delayed in payment.

138. Upon information and belief, the LRC Defendants’ disputes, and behaviors with persons engaged to install amenities or provide improvements to the Grey Rock Development further benefited the said Defendants’ profits and were also part of a scheme or plan to delay or slow construction within the development.
139. Upon information and belief, the public records show sufficient monies available to the LRC Defendants to timely and expeditiously provide and install the improvements and amenities as represented.

140. All Plaintiffs have lost the use and enjoyment of their land due to the Defendants’ mismanagement, excessive delays, broken promises, misrepresentations, acts, omissions and other failures to perform.

141. The Defendants’ acts and omissions as described herein have rendered the Plaintiffs’ properties virtually unmarketable, none of the lots can be built upon without roads, utilities and an adequate water source.  
142. Based upon the acts and omissions of the Defendants as set forth herein, the Plaintiffs’ properties have been rendered virtually worthless.
143. Upon information and belief, Defendant Wachovia has, or is in the process of foreclosing upon the remaining unsold lots in Grey Rock.

144. Plaintiffs purchased their lots with the reasonable belief that such lots could be built upon within a reasonable time after purchase and with a reasonable belief that LRC would install roads, wells, utility access and other infrastructure items that are necessary and essential for the habitability of homes.
145. Additionally, Plaintiffs purchased their lots with the reasonable belief that the pools, tennis courts, equestrian center, club houses, lake club and other amenities would be constructed and completed within a reasonable time after purchase but no later than the dates represented.
146. Upon information and belief, no home has been built to completion other than the HGTV Dream House and only one other home had begun to be constructed.  Upon information and belief said construction was stopped after approximately forty percent (40%) completion because the well caused to be drilled by Defendant LRC did not have water flow sufficient to sustain even a single home.

147. Upon information and belief, the few number of paved roads which Defendant LRC actually caused to be installed in Grey Rock were negligently designed and/or installed and therefore lead to soil erosion which polluted the waters and streams of North Carolina and additionally gave rise to possible structural and embankment failures and otherwise posed a public safety risk.
148. Upon information and belief, North Carolina authorities have ordered LRC to redesign and/or rebuild the existing paved roads before new or additional paved roads may be constructed in Grey Rock.
149. Upon information and belief, the new designs and roads will encroach upon Plaintiffs’ properties and reduce the lot sizes Plaintiffs bargained for when they purchased the lots from Buffalo Creek.

150. Upon information and belief, such encroachments and reductions in lot size will render it impossible for many lots, including the Plaintiffs’, to acquire permits for and install septic systems thereby rendering the lots non-buildable and useless.

151. Upon information and belief, as of June 2008, Defendant LRC had collected approximately $79,025,000.00 from property sales at Grey Rock.  
152. Upon information and belief, this money was more than ample to purchase free and clear the remaining property at Grey Rock and to fully complete all promised amenities, utilities an infrastructure.

153. Upon information and belief, LRC has closed its sales office and shut down operations indefinitely at Grey Rock. At the time of the sales office closing in July 2008 no progress had been made with the exception of the gate house at the east entrance (which upon information and belief is not fully paid for) and the road leading to the fully constructed Dream House.
154. Upon information and belief, Defendant LRC, Defendant Ward, Defendant Beidel and Defendant Flaskey have diverted the tens of millions of dollars made from selling lots at Grey Rock to themselves and Defendant LRC’s executives, officers and directors as named herein or described as John Doe Defendants, and additionally diverted monies to other developments or other business ventures rather than using those funds to provide the roads, wells, amenities and other infrastructure promised to the Plaintiffs and other buyers. Such diversion was done despite having made multiple representations that such funds would be used to provide the infrastructure and amenities as promised.
THE ALLENS
155. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 154, above.
156. The Allens purchased Lot 167 for Two Hundred Forty-Nine Thousand Nine Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($249,900.00).

157. Upon information and belief, at the time of the Allens’ purchase, Defendant Wachovia released its interest in Lot 167 and all common amenities, roads and areas for Forty-Nine Thousand Nine Hundred Eighty and 00/100 Dollars ($49,980.00).

158. Upon information and belief, at the time the Allens purchased Lot 167 in March 2005, Defendant LRC had collected approximately Seventeen Million Four Hundred Sixty-Six Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($17,466,000.00) from property sales at Grey Rock.

159. Defendant Garren performed an appraisal for Lot 167 on February 18, 2005 valuing the lot at Two Hundred Fifty-Eight Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($258,000.00).

160. Defendant Garren acted in a dual role as the appraiser for (1) Defendant BB&T and (2) the Allens.

161. Defendant Garren’s dual role created an inherent conflict of interest given the Defendants’ joint venture with Defendant LRC.

162. Defendant Garren made representations to the Allens and others regarding Lot 167 including that it had a value of Two Hundred Fifty-Eight Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($258,000.00), and that “[n]eighborhood amenities will include stables, clubhouses, 2500 acres of preserved land, hiking/equestrian trails.”

163. Defendant Garren owed a duty to Plaintiffs to ensure the comparable sales used were based on arm’s length transactions and otherwise appropriate.
164. Upon information and belief, Defendant Garren used sales from inside Grey Rock as comparable sales when some of these sales were upon information and belief insider deals done to artificially enhance the proposed values of other lots.

THE CARLSSONS
165. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 164, above.
166. The Carlssons purchased Lot 157 for Three Hundred Ninety-Nine Thousand Nine Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($399,900.00).

167. Upon information and belief, at the time of the Carlssons’ purchase, Defendant Wachovia released its interest in Lot 157 and all common amenities, roads and areas for Seventy-One Thousand Nine Hundred Eighty-Two and 00/100 Dollars ($71,982.00).

168. Upon information and belief, at the time the Carlssons purchased Lot 157 in March 2005, Defendant LRC had collected approximately Seventeen Million Four Hundred Sixty-Six Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($17,466,000.00) from property sales at Grey Rock.

169. Defendant Garren performed an appraisal for Lot 157 on February 18, 2005 valuing the lot at Four Hundred Twenty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($420,000.00).

170. Defendant Garren acted in a dual role as the appraiser for (1) Defendant BB&T and (2) the Carlssons.

171. Defendant Garren’s dual role created an inherent conflict of interest given the Defendants’ joint venture with Defendant LRC.

172. Defendant Garren made representations to the Carlssons and others regarding Lot 157 including that it had a value of Four Hundred Twenty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($420,000.00), and that “[n]eighborhood amenities will include stables, clubhouses, 2500 acres of preserved land, hiking/equestrian trails.” Additionally, Defendant Garren represented that “[o]nly sales from the subject neighborhood are considered truly comparable due to its upscale amenities.”

173. Defendant Gilbert, as agent or employee of Defendant HomeFocus Services preformed an appraisal for Lot 157 on January 31, 2007 valuing the lot at Four Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($450,000.00).

174. Upon information and belief, this appraisal was made for the purpose of refinancing Lot 157.

175. Defendant Gilbert acted in a dual role as the appraiser for (1) Defendant BoA and (2) for the Carlssons.
176. Defendant Gilbert’s dual role created an inherent conflict of interest given the Defendants’ joint venture with Defendant LRC.

177. Defendant Gilbert made representations to the Carlssons and others regarding Lot 157 including that it had a value of Four Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($450,000.00), and that “[a]ll values are based upon completion of the infrastructure and amenities.”
178. Defendant Gilbert and Defendant Garren owed a duty to Plaintiffs to ensure the comparable sales used were based on arm’s length transactions and otherwise appropriate.

179. Upon information and belief, Defendant Gilbert and Defendant Garren used sales from inside Grey Rock as comparable sales when some of these sales were upon information and belief insider deals done to artificially enhance the proposed values of other lots.

THE COXES
180. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 179, above.
181. The Coxes purchased Lot 76 for Two Hundred Twenty-Four Thousand Nine Hundred Ten and 00/100 Dollars ($224,910.00).

182. Upon information and belief, at the time of the Coxes’ purchase Defendant Wachovia released its interest in Lot 76 and all common amenities, roads and areas for Forty-Four Thousand Nine Hundred Eighty-Two and 00/100 Dollars ($44,982.00).

183. Upon information and belief, at the time the Coxes purchased Lot 76 in September 2005, Defendant LRC had collected approximately Thirty-Seven Million Six Hundred Seventy-One Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($37,671,000.00) from property sales at Grey Rock.

184. The Coxes purchased Lot 55 for Four Hundred Ninety-Nine Thousand Nine Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($499,900.00).

185. Upon information and belief, at the time of the Coxes’ purchase Defendant Wachovia released its interest in Lot 55 and all common amenities, roads and areas for Ninety-Nine Thousand Nine Hundred Eighty and 00/100 Dollars ($99,980.00).

186. Upon information and belief, at the time the Coxes purchased Lot 55 in October 2005, Defendant LRC had collected approximately Forty-Five Million One Hundred Forty-Eight Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($45,148,500.00) from property sales at Grey Rock.

187. Defendant Cochran, an employee of Two Day Appraisal, performed an appraisal of Lot 55 on September 15, 2005 valuing the lot at Five Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($500,000.00).

188. Upon information and belief, Two Day Appraisal was acting as an agent of Defendant HomeFocus.

189. Defendant Cochran acted in a dual role as the appraiser for (1) Defendant BoA and (2) the Coxes.

190. Defendant Cochran’s dual role created an inherent conflict of interest given the Defendants’ joint venture with Defendant LRC.

191. Defendant Cochran made representations to the Coxes and others regarding Lot 55 including that it had a value of Five Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($500,000.00).

192. Defendant Cochran owed a duty to Plaintiffs to ensure the comparable sales used were based on arm’s length transactions and otherwise appropriate.

193. Upon information and belief, Defendant Cochran used sales from inside Grey Rock as comparable sales when some of these sales were upon information and belief insider deals done to artificially enhance the proposed values of other lots.
THE DAYS
194. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 though 193, above.
195. The Days purchased Lot 209 for Two Hundred Ninety-Nine Thousand One Hundred Sixty-Four and 50/100 Dollars ($299,164.50).

196. Upon information and belief, at the time of the Days’ purchase Defendant Wachovia released its interest in Lot 209 and all common amenities, roads and areas for Forty-Four Thousand Eight Hundred Seventy-Four and 68/100 Dollars ($44,874.68).

197. Upon information and belief, at the time the Days purchased Lot 209 in September 2005, Defendant LRC had collected approximately Thirty-Seven Million Six Hundred Seventy-One Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($37,671,000.00) from property sales at Grey Rock.

198. Defendant Garren performed an appraisal of Lot 209 on July 1, 2005 valuing the lot at Three Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($325,000.00).

199. Defendant Garren acted in a dual role as the appraiser for (1) Defendant BoA and (2) the Days.

200. Defendant Garren’s dual role created an inherent conflict of interest given the Defendants’ joint venture with Defendant LRC.

201. Defendant Garren made representations to the Days and others regarding Lot 209 including that it had a value of Three Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($325,000.00), and that the “[n]eighborhood amenities will include a lake club, stables, several clubhouses with pool and tennis centers, 2500 acres of preserved land, hiking/equestrian trails.”

202. Defendant Garren owed a duty to Plaintiffs to ensure the comparable sales used were based on arm’s length transactions and otherwise appropriate.

203. Upon information and belief, Defendant Garren used sales from inside Grey Rock as comparable sales when some of these sales were upon information and belief insider deals done to artificially enhance the proposed values of other lots.
THE HENDERSONS
204. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 203, above.
205. The Hendersons purchased Lot 577 for Three Hundred Fourteen Thousand Nine Hundred Ten and 00/100 Dollars ($314,910.00).

206. Upon information and belief, at the time the Hendersons purchased Lot 577 in September 2006, Defendant LRC had collected approximately Sixty-Five Million Two Hundred Eighty-Two Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($65,282,500.00) from property sales at Grey Rock.

207. Defendant John Doe Appraiser, as an agent or employee of Defendant HomeFocus Services performed an appraisal of Lot 577 valuing the lot at a greater value than the purchase price.

208. Defendant John Doe Appraiser acted in a dual role as the appraiser for (1) Defendant BoA and (2) the Hendersons.

209. Defendant John Doe Appraiser’s dual role created an inherent conflict of interest given the Defendants’ joint venture with Defendant LRC.

210. Defendant John Doe Appraiser made representations regarding Lot 577 including that it had a value substantially greater than the purchase price.

211. Defendant John Doe Appraiser owed a duty to Plaintiffs to ensure the comparable sales used were based on arm’s length transactions and otherwise appropriate.

212. Upon information and belief, Defendant John Doe Appraiser used sales from inside Grey Rock as comparable sales when some of these sales were upon information and belief insider deals done to artificially enhance the proposed values of other lots.
THE JOYS
213. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 212, above.
214. The Joys purchased Lot 317 for Two Hundred Nineteen Thousand Nine Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($219,900.00).

215. Upon information and belief, at the time of the Joys’ purchase Defendant Wachovia released its interest in Lot 317 and all common amenities, roads and areas for Thirty-Two Thousand Nine Hundred Eighty-Five and 00/100 Dollars ($32,985.00).

216. Upon information and belief, at the time the Joys purchased Lot 317 in September 2005, Defendant LRC had collected approximately Thirty-Seven Million Six Hundred Seventy-One Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($37,671,000.00) from property sales at Grey Rock.

217. Defendant John Doe Appraiser performed an appraisal of Lot 317 valuing the lot at a greater value than the purchase price.

218. Defendant John Doe Appraiser acted in a dual role as the appraiser for (1) the lender and (2) the Joys.

219. Defendant John Doe Appraiser’s dual role created an inherent conflict of interest given the Defendants’ joint venture with Defendant LRC.

220. Defendant John Doe Appraiser made representations regarding Lot 317 including that it had a value substantially in excess of the purchase price.
221. Defendant John Doe Appraiser owed a duty to Plaintiffs to ensure the comparable sales used were based on arm’s length transactions and otherwise appropriate.

222. Upon information and belief, Defendant John Doe Appraiser used sales from inside Grey Rock as comparable sales when some of these sales were upon information and belief  insider deals done to artificially enhance the proposed values of other lots.
THE KASIANOWICZES
223. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 though 222, above.
224. The Kasianowiczes purchased Lot 645 for Six Hundred Seventy-Four Thousand Nine Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($674,900.00).

225. Upon information and belief, at the time of the Kasianowiczes’ purchase Defendant Wachovia released its interest in Lot 645 and all common amenities, roads and areas.

226. Upon information and belief, at the time the Kasianowiczes purchased Lot 645 in July 2006, Defendant LRC had collected approximately Sixty-Two Million Four Hundred Eighty-Nine Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($62,489,500.00) from property sales at Grey Rock.
227. Defendant Hullett performed an appraisal of Lot 645 on May 2, 2006 valuing the lot at Seven Hundred Twelve Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($712,500.00). 
228. Defendant Hullett acted in a dual role as the appraiser for (1) Defendant BoA and (2) the Kasianowiczes.

229. Defendant Hullett’s dual role created an inherent conflict of interest given the Defendants’ joint venture with Defendant LRC.

230. Defendant Hullett owed a duty to Plaintiffs to ensure the comparable sales used were based on arm’s length transactions and otherwise appropriate.

231. Upon information and belief, Defendant Hullett used sales from inside Grey Rock as comparable sales when some of these sales were upon information and belief insider deals done to artificially enhance the proposed values of other lots.
232. The Kasianowiczes purchased Lot 644 for Five Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($550,000.00).

233. Upon information and belief, at the time of the Kasianowiczes’ purchase Defendant Wachovia released its interest in Lot 644 and all common amenities, roads and areas.

234. Upon information and belief, at the time the Kasianowiczes purchased Lot 644 in August 2006, Defendant LRC had collected approximately Sixty-Four Million Five Hundred Sixty-Two Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($64,562,500.00) from property sales at Grey Rock

235. Defendant Sessoms performed an appraisal of Lot 644 on July 20, 2006 valuing the lot at Five Hundred Seventy-Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($575,000.00).

236. Defendant Sessoms acted in a dual role as the appraiser for (1) Defendant BoA and (2) the Kasianowiczes.

237. Defendant Sessoms’ dual role created an inherent conflict of interest given the Defendants’ joint venture with Defendant LRC.

238. Defendant Sessoms made representations regarding Lot 644 including that it had a value of Five Hundred Seventy-Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($575,000.00).

239. Defendant Sessoms made representations to the Kasianowiczes and others regarding Lot 644 including that it had a value of Five Hundred Seventy-Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($575,000.00), and that the “[d]evelopment amenities are not complete at this time” and that “[a]ll values are based upon completion of the infrastructure and amenities.”

240. Defendant Sessoms owed a duty to Plaintiffs to ensure the comparable sales used were based on arm’s length transactions and otherwise appropriate.

241. Upon information and belief, Defendant Sessoms used sales from inside Grey Rock as comparable sales when some of these sales were upon information and belief insider deals done to artificially enhance the proposed values of other lots.
MS. LYCAN
242. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 though 241, above.
243. Ms. Lycan purchased Lot 31 for One Hundred Forty-Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($145,000.00).

244. Ms. Lycan purchased Lot 31 from Alexander Levinstein and Julia Dragunskaya whose first mortgage was held by Defendant BB&T.  Upon information and belief, the first mortgage payoff was One Hundred Five Thousand Eight Hundred Seventy-Five and 35/100 Dollars ($105,875.35).  This payoff released Defendant BB&T’s interest in Lot 31 and all common amenities.

245. Upon information and belief, at the time Ms. Lycan purchased Lot 31 in November 2006, Defendant LRC had collected approximately Seventy Million Four Hundred Twelve Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($70,412,500.00) from property sales at Grey Rock.

246. Defendant Gilbert, as an agent or employee of Defendant HomeFocus Services performed an appraisal of Lot 31 on October 26, 2006 valuing the lot at One Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($150,000.00).

247. Defendant Gilbert acted in a dual role as the appraiser for (1) Defendant BoA and (2) Ms. Lycan.

248. Defendant Gilbert’s dual role created an inherent conflict of interest given the Defendants’ joint venture with Defendant LRC.

249. Defendant Gilbert made representations to Ms. Lycan and others regarding Lot 31 including that it had a value of One Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($150,000.00) and that “[t]he subject is located in Grey Rock, a new upscale residential development north of Lake Lure and Fairfield Mountains Resorts” and that “[d]evelopment amenities are not complete at this time” and “[a]ll values are based upon completion of the infrastructure per developer advertised plan”.

250. Defendant Gilbert owed a duty to Plaintiffs to ensure the comparable sales used were based on arm’s length transactions and otherwise appropriate.

251. Upon information and belief, Defendant Gilbert used sales from inside Grey Rock as comparable sales when some of these sales were upon information and belief insider deals done to artificially enhance the proposed values of other lots.
THE SWARTZES
252. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 though 251, above.
253. The Swartzes purchased Lot 187 for One Hundred Seventy-Nine Thousand Nine Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($179,900.00).

254. Upon information and belief, at the time of the Swartzes’ purchase Defendant Wachovia released its interest in Lot 187 and all common amenities, roads and areas for Thirty-Five Thousand Nine Hundred Eighty and 00/100 Dollars ($35,980.00).

255. Upon information and belief, at the time the Swartzes purchased Lot 187 in April 2005, Defendant LRC had collected approximately Fifteen Million Six Hundred Ninety-Three Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($15,693,000.00) from property sales at Grey Rock.

256. Defendant John Doe Appraiser performed an appraisal of Lot 187 valuing the lot at a greater value than the purchase price.

257. Defendant John Doe Appraiser acted in a dual role as the appraiser for (1) SunTrust and (2) the Swartzes.

258. Defendant John Doe Appraiser’s dual role created an inherent conflict of interest given the Defendants’ joint venture with Defendant LRC.

259. Defendant John Doe Appraiser made representations regarding Lot 187 including that it had a value substantially in excess of the purchase price.
260. Defendant John Doe Appraiser owed a duty to Plaintiffs to ensure the comparable sales used were based on arm’s length transactions and otherwise appropriate.

261. Upon information and belief, Defendant John Doe Appraiser used sales from inside Grey Rock as comparable sales when some of these sales were upon information and belief insider deals done to artificially enhance the proposed values of other lots.
MR. WOOD AND MR. BLOOM
262. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 though 261, above.
263. Mr. Wood and Mr. Bloom purchased Lot 671 for Three Hundred Forty-Nine Thousand Nine Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($349,900.00).

264. Upon information and belief, at the time of Mr. Wood’s and Mr. Bloom’s purchase Defendant Wachovia released its interest in Lot 671 and all common amenities, roads and areas.

265. Upon information and belief, at the time Mr. Wood and Mr. Bloom purchased Lot 671 in December 2006, Defendant LRC had collected approximately Seventy-One Million Three Hundred Seventy-Four Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($71,374,500.00) from property sales at Grey Rock.

266. Defendant John Doe Appraiser performed an appraisal of Lot 671 valuing the lot at a greater value than the purchase price.

267. Defendant John Doe Appraiser acted in a dual role as the appraiser for (1)  the lender and (2) Mr. Wood and Mr. Bloom.

268. Defendant John Doe Appraiser’s dual role created an inherent conflict of interest given the Defendants’ joint venture with Defendant LRC.

269. Defendant John Doe Appraiser made representations regarding Lot 671 including that it had a value substantially in excess of the purchase price.
270. Defendant John Doe Appraiser owed a duty to Plaintiffs to ensure the comparable sales used were based on arm’s length transactions and otherwise appropriate.

271. Upon information and belief, Defendant John Doe Appraiser used sales from inside Grey Rock as comparable sales when some of these sales were upon information and belief insider deals done to artificially enhance the proposed values of other lots.
THE RUBERTS
272. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 though 271, above.
273. The Ruberts purchased Lot 299 for One Hundred Thirty-Four Thousand Nine Hundred Ten and 00/100 Dollars ($134,910.00).

274. Upon information and belief, at the time of the Ruberts’ purchase Defendant Wachovia released its interest in Lot 299 and all common amenities, roads and areas for Twenty-Two Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($22,000.00).

275. Upon information and belief, at the time the Ruberts purchased Lot 299 in September 2005, Defendant LRC had collected approximately Thirty-Seven Million Six Hundred Seventy-One Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($37,671,000.00) from property sales at Grey Rock.

276. Defendant John Doe Appraiser performed an appraisal of Lot 299 valuing the lot at a greater value than the purchase price.

277. Defendant John Doe Appraiser acted in a dual role as the appraiser for (1) the lender and (2) the Ruberts.

278. Defendant John Doe Appraiser’s dual role created an inherent conflict of interest given the Defendants’ joint venture with Defendant LRC.

279. Defendant John Doe Appraiser made representations regarding Lot 299 including that it had a value substantially in excess of the purchase price.

280. Defendant John Doe Appraiser owed a duty to Plaintiffs to ensure the comparable sales used were based on arm’s length transactions and otherwise appropriate.

281. Upon information and belief, Defendant John Doe Appraiser used sales from inside Grey Rock as comparable sales when some of these sales were upon information and belief insider deals done to artificially enhance the proposed values of other lots.
MR. KREBS
282. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 though 281, above.
283. Mr. Krebs purchased Lot 82 for One Hundred Twenty-Nine Thousand Nine Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($129,900.00).

284. Upon information and belief, at the time of Mr. Krebs’ purchase  Defendant Wachovia released its interest in Lot 82 and all common amenities, roads and areas for Twenty-Five Thousand Nine Hundred Eighty and 00/100 Dollars ($25,980.00).

285. Upon information and belief, at the time Mr. Krebs purchased Lot 82 in January 2005, Defendant LRC had collected approximately Two Million Seven Hundred Sixty-Five Thousand Five Hundred and 00/100 Dollars ($2,765,500.00) from property sales at Grey Rock.

286. Defendant John Doe Appraiser performed an appraisal of Lot 82 valuing the lot at a greater value than the purchase price.

287. Defendant John Doe Appraiser acted in a dual role as the appraiser for (1) Central Carolina Bank and (2) Mr. Krebs.

288. Defendant John Doe Appraiser’s dual role created an inherent conflict of interest given the Defendants’ joint venture with Defendant LRC.

289. Defendant John Doe Appraiser made representations regarding Lot 82 including that it had a value substantially in excess of the purchase price.
290. Defendant John Doe Appraiser owed a duty to Plaintiffs to ensure the comparable sales used were based on arm’s length transactions and otherwise appropriate.

291. Upon information and belief, Defendant John Doe Appraiser used sales from inside Grey Rock as comparable sales when some of these sales were upon information and belief insider deals done to artificially enhance the proposed values of other lots.
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(VIOLATION OF INTERSTATE LAND SALES ACT

FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPERTY REPORT)
292. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 291, above.
293. Defendants were engaged in the marketing and selling of residential real estate across state lines by use of interstate mail, wires, the internet and other advertising.  Pursuant to the ILSA 15 U.S.C. §§ 1701-1719, and the rules promulgated by the Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”), Defendant LRC was required to file with HUD a Federal Statement of Record for each lot offered for sale in Grey Rock.  Such Statement of Record was to contain specific information.
294. Additionally, Defendant LRC was to provide all prospective purchasers with a detailed Property Report (the “Property Reports”) prior to the execution of a reservation agreement or purchase contract.

295. Defendant LRC submitted a Statement of Record with information for only sixty (60) of the nine hundred twenty-four (924) lots to be offered for sale at Grey Rock.  Such submission violates the registration requirements set forth in the ILSA for all remaining lots that were offered for sale and/or sold.
296. With respect to the Plaintiffs who signed Reservation Agreements, Defendant LRC failed to comply with §1707 and §1703 of the ILSA as well as 24 C.F.R. §1715.20 by failing to provide said purchasers with a Property Report for registered lots prior to the Plaintiffs’ execution of the Reservation Agreement and provision of monetary consideration for such reservations.
297. Defendant LRC further violated the ILSA by failing to provide detailed and complete cost sheets, by providing grossly inaccurate information with regard to timelines for construction of roads and common amenities, by failing to have a good faith reasonable basis for its representations regarding the quantity and costs of wells and by disclaiming any and all liability for inadequate water supplies or the ability to install private sewage/septic systems, both of which are necessary for residential development.
298. Additionally, the Property Reports failed to comply with 15 U.S.C. §1703(a)(1)(c) and the related HUD regulations because they omit material information that is required to be provided pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§ 1703 and 1707, which includes the addresses of any lien holders, legal description of the development, a map of the property and the range of prices for the units covered by the Property Report.

299. Upon information and belief, Defendant LRC knew or should have known of these laws as it has registered numerous other developments with HUD.
300. Defendant LRC failed to comply with the ILSA by not delivering a Property Report as required by HUD.

301. The ILSA is a strict liability statute and the mere violation of not providing the Property Reports puts Defendant LRC in violation of the ILSA and entitles Plaintiffs to damages, attorney fees, costs, independent appraiser fees, pre-judgment interest, travel expenses to and from the lots, and any further and additional equitable relief this Court deems just.
302. Additionally, officers, directors and participating planners may be held individually liable for violations of the ILSA.  The acts and omissions described herein by the officers, directors and planners of Defendant LRC subject them to personal liability under the ILSA.
303. The ILSA grants the Court broad, equitable power to order any remedy that justice may require.  Such power includes, but is not limited to, the freezing of the assets of not only the developer and its agents but the individual officers, directors and planners who may be held liable under the ILSA.  Pursuant to these powers, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court provide injunctive relief in the form of freezing the assets of Defendant LRC, as well as freezing the personal assets and seizing the passports of Defendant Flaskey, Defendant Ward, Defendant Beidel and Defendant Vacko and the assets of the John Doe Officers and John Doe Director upon identification of same. 
SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

(VIOLATION OF THE INTERSTATE LAND SALES ACT FULL DISCLOSURE ACT
FRAUD AND DECEIT UPON PURCHASERS)
304. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 303, above.

305. Defendants engaged in a pattern, plan or course of conduct to sell Plaintiffs residential real estate lots in an unfair, misleading and/or fraudulent manner in violation of §1703(a)(2) of the ILSA.

306.  The Defendants violated the ILSA including but not limited to by:

a. employing a scheme to defraud Plaintiffs; 
b. obtaining money by means of untrue statements of material fact and omission of material facts that were necessary to make statements from Defendants to Plaintiffs not misleading in light of the totality of the circumstances and the context in which such representations were made; and 
c. engaging in a pattern and practice in the course of business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon Plaintiffs.
307. Defendants’ violations of the ILSA include but are not limited to all unfair, misleading, fraudulent and deceitful statements and acts and omissions as set forth herein.

308. Upon information and belief, Defendants made such representations to induce prospective purchasers, including Plaintiffs, to buy their lots at Grey Rock.
309. Plaintiffs reasonably relied upon the foregoing fraudulent, misleading and deceitful representations of Defendants and such representations relating to material facts that effected Plaintiffs’ decisions to purchase their lots.

310. Plaintiffs would not have purchased their lots had they known the truth about the aforementioned material facts.

311. The acts and omissions described herein violate 15 U.S.C. §1703(a)(2) and entitle Plaintiffs to damages and/or equitable relief pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §1709.
312. Additionally, officers, directors and participating planners may be held individually liable for violations of the ILSA.  The acts and omissions described herein by the officers, directors and planners of LRC subject them to personal liability under the ILSA.

313. The ILSA grants the Court broad, equitable power to order any remedy that justice may require.  Such power includes, but is not limited to, the freezing of the assets of not only the developer and its agents but the individual officers, directors and planners who may be held liable under the ILSA.  Pursuant to these powers, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court provide injunctive relief in the form of freezing the assets of Defendant LRC, as well as freezing the personal assets and seizing the passports of Defendant Flaskey, Defendant Ward, Defendant Beidel and Defendant Vacko and the assets of John Doe Officers and John Doe Directors upon identification of same. 
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

(RESCISSION)
314. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 313, above.

315. Plaintiffs entered into valid, written agreements (the “Contracts”), with LRC for the purchase of their lots.  
316. Plaintiffs hereby seek rescission of the Contracts due to mutual mistake, fraud, misrepresentation or impossibility of performance.

317. Plaintiffs do hereby rescind their sales contracts with Defendant Buffalo Creek and do hereby notify Defendant Buffalo Creek of such rescissions.

318. Plaintiffs have not received any benefits from the Contracts as none of the Plaintiffs have a lot upon which a residence may be built.  Additionally, there are no community amenities which Plaintiffs may have otherwise used or enjoyed since the sales contracts were entered.  However, if the Plaintiffs have enjoyed some benefit from their respective Contracts, they do hereby offer to restore such benefits to Defendant LRC and would transfer the title to their properties back to Defendant Buffalo Creek.
319. Upon information and belief, Defendant LRC was mutually mistaken as to the representations made as described herein or otherwise made false or fraudulent misrepresentations to Plaintiffs to induce Plaintiffs mistaken beliefs and otherwise to deceive Plaintiffs into contracting.
320. The misrepresentations of Defendant LRC as set forth herein were material facts and Plaintiffs relied to their detriment on those facts in determining whether to enter into the Contracts. 
321. If the Plaintiffs knew the truth about the misrepresentations as set forth herein or, alternatively, if Defendant LRC had not made false and fraudulent misrepresentations, the Plaintiffs would not have entered into the Contracts.
322. One of the central purposes and premise of the purchase and sale of a residential lot is that the owner can build a habitable residence upon the lot.  

323. In the present case, the purpose and premise has been frustrated and is impossible because habitable residences cannot be constructed upon the lots due to the acts, omissions and conditions as set forth herein.

324. Additionally, the central purpose and premise for Plaintiffs to enter into the Contract was to be a part of a large, upscale community where hundreds of property owners would share the use of common amenities and pay into a common association that would maintain, preserve and enhance said amenities.
325. Even if a few lots within Grey Rock had adequate water resources, power, roads and other infrastructure suitable for building a habitable residence, and even if the amenities were constructed, the purpose of the Contracts would still be frustrated and impossible to realize due to the unsuitability for building of the other lots.  The Contracts provide Plaintiffs with the right of rescission.
326. Due to the uniqueness of real estate, the lost time and experiences of Plaintiffs, and the ongoing and continuing nature of the damages sustained as a result of owning residential property which cannot be used for residential purpose, Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(BREACH OF CONTRACT/ANTICIPATORY BREACH)
327. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 326, above.

328. Each and every Plaintiff entered into a valid written “Agreement for Lot Purchase” (the “Contracts”) with Defendant Buffalo Creek.  The Agreement for Lot Purchase constituted a valid and binding contract between the parties. 
329. Plaintiffs have fully performed their obligations pursuant to the Contracts.
330. Defendants Buffalo Creek and LRC have breached the Contracts or Plaintiffs reasonably believe that such breach will occur and is inevitable and that Defendants will otherwise be unable to honor its contractual obligations. 

331. Defendants’ breach of contract includes, but is not limited to:

a. The failure to construct a swim facility, club house and two tennis courts as provided in the Carlssons’ Agreement for Lot Purchase;
b. The failure to provide an approved septic permit from the Rutherford County, North Carolina Health Department within sixty (60) days of closing as provided in the Addendum to Contract to Purchase Lot 577 at Grey Rock between Defendant Buffalo Creek and the Hendersons;

c. The failure to provide an adequate supply of potable water by December 31, 2008 to Lot 577 as provided in the Addendum to Contract to Purchase Lot 577 at Grey Rock entered into between Defendant Buffalo Creek and the Hendersons.  Upon information and belief, Defendants will be unable to supply said adequate supply of potable water by the December 31, 2008 deadline and to otherwise meet the specifications as set forth in the Addendum to Contract; and
d. The acts and omissions of Defendants as more specifically set forth herein.

332. As a result of the breach of contract, Plaintiffs have been and will be damaged in an amount in excess of Ten Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00).

333. Plaintiffs hereby request the Court to order the Defendants to specifically perform their obligations under the Contracts and additionally or alternatively, for the payment of all applicable damages. 
FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(BREACH OF COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING)
334. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 333, above.

335. Plaintiffs entered into valid written “Agreement for Lot Purchase” (the “Contracts”) with Defendant Buffalo Creek.

336. The Contracts were standard form agreements drafted or chosen by Defendants LRC or Buffalo Creek.

337. Pursuant to the Contracts and representations of the Defendants, the Plaintiffs had a reasonable expectation that Defendant Buffalo Creek and/or other LRC entities would perform their part of the bargain in good faith and that the residential lots purchased through the Contracts would be suitable for the development and construction of habitable residences either immediately or shortly after the closings. 

338. Defendant Buffalo Creek and/or other LRC entities breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing by including but not limited to not providing paved roads, wells and service lines and amenities within a reasonable time which has rendered the lots unsuitable for residential development due to lack of roads, water and utilities.

339. Defendant Buffalo Creek and/or other LRC entities through one or more conscious and deliberate acts, failed or refused to discharge their contractual responsibilities within a reasonable time which unfairly frustrated the Contracts’ purposes and disappointed the Plaintiffs’ expectations.
340. Due to Defendants’ breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, the Plaintiffs have been deprived of the Contracts’ benefits, the loss of use of their properties and by rendering their properties unsuitable for the development, or even resale, of habitable residences.

341. Defendants’ actions are inconsistent with the parties’ purpose under the Contracts.

342. Due to the acts and omission of Defendants as described herein, Plaintiffs have been and will be damaged in an amount in excess of Ten Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00).

343. Plaintiffs’ damages are of an ongoing and continuing nature and will continue that way until Defendants honor their contractual obligations.  Thus Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law until Defendants honor their contractual obligations.
344. Plaintiffs hereby request the Court to order the Defendants to specifically perform their obligations under the Contracts and additionally or alternatively, for the payment of all applicable damages.
 SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(NEGLIGENCE)
345. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 344, above.

346. Defendants owed Plaintiffs a common law duty to use due care and skill in the course and scope of performing their work and in their interactions and representations regarding Grey Rock and all matters pertaining thereto. Defendants further owe Plaintiffs a duty of good faith and fair dealing
347. Defendants breached their duties owed to Plaintiffs by and through the numerous acts and omissions as specifically set forth herein.

348. Defendants’ actions were willful and wanton and taken with reckless disregard for the rights of the Plaintiffs.

349. As a result of such acts and omissions, Defendants have directly and proximately caused Plaintiffs to incur damages in an amount in excess of Ten Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00).
SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION)
350. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 349, above.

351. Defendants owed to Plaintiffs a duty of care related to the acts and omissions as described herein and the representations as further set forth in this Complaint.

352. Defendants breached their duty of care owed to Plaintiff through negligently making false representations regarding Grey Rock including but not limited to those as specifically provided herein.
353. Plaintiffs detrimentally relied upon Defendants’ representations so much that the Plaintiffs purchased lots in Grey Rock or otherwise took action related thereto as set forth herein.

354. Due to Defendants’ negligent misrepresentations, Plaintiffs have been and will be damaged in an amount in excess of Ten Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00) and have suffered damages which Defendants were aware of or should have reasonably anticipated at the time such negligent misrepresentation of material facts was made.

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(FRAUD IN THE INDUCEMENT)
355. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 354, above.

356. Upon information and belief, Defendants knowingly made one or more false statements of material fact to Plaintiffs to induce Plaintiffs to act in reliance upon such statements in purchasing residential lots in Grey Rock and otherwise making the acts and omissions as set forth herein.  Defendants, acting in conjunction with their agents, made numerous representations to the Plaintiffs as set forth herein.

357. Upon information and belief, representations made by Defendants were part of an overall land sale scheme designed to induce Plaintiffs and others to purchase lots in Grey Rock.
358. Plaintiffs reasonably relied upon the false representations made by the Defendants.

359. Upon information and belief, Defendants knew or should have known that such representations were false when made.

360. Plaintiffs have been damaged in an amount in excess of Ten Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000,00) due to their reasonable reliance on the fraudulent misrepresentations of Defendants, together with such exemplary damages as may be determined.
NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(FRAUD)
361. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 360, above.

362. Upon information and belief, Defendants made false representations of material fact as specifically set forth herein.  

363. Upon information and belief, such representations were reasonably calculated to deceive and were made with intent to deceive Plaintiffs and did in fact deceive Plaintiffs, resulting in damages in excess of Ten Thousand 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00) to Plaintiffs.

364. As a result of Defendants’ alleged fraud, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover in an amount in excess of Ten Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00) together with such exemplary damages as may be determined.
TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(CONSTRUCTIVE FRAUD)
365. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 364, above.

366. Plaintiffs instilled trust and confidence in Defendant SHOA to properly manage the funds contributed thereto and to otherwise insure proper financing was available to maintain the amenities and common areas upon completion as well as oversight of the amenities and other common areas to be turned over to the Home Owner’s Association and to accurately relay information regarding the construction progress, or lack thereof, at Grey Rock.  
367. Plaintiffs reasonably relied upon the representations, acts and omissions, of SHOA and its officers, directors, employees and agents.

368. Defendant SHOA, as well as its officers, directors, employees and agents as provided herein, took advantage of their position of trust and confidence with the Plaintiffs.

369. Defendant SHOA, as well as its officers, directors, employees and agents as provided herein, stood in a dual role and breached their obligations to Plaintiffs.

370. As a result of the acts and omissions of Defendant SHOA and the misrepresentations and acts and omissions of SHOA as set forth herein, Plaintiffs have been and will be damaged in an amount in excess of Ten Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00).

371. Plaintiffs are entitled to recovery such exemplary damages as may be determined.

ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY AS TO SHOA)
372. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 371, above.

373. Defendant SHOA owed a fiduciary duty to the Plaintiffs.  
374. Additionally, such fiduciary duty existed pursuant to the Defendant SHOA’s close relationship with Plaintiffs and retainment of funds paid by the Plaintiffs for the construction, funding and maintenance of amenities and other common areas in Grey Rock and the eventual turning over of those common areas and amenities to the Grey Rock Home Owner’s Association.

375. Based upon the acts and omissions as set forth herein, the Defendant SHOA has breached its fiduciary duty to the Plaintiffs and as a result thereof Plaintiffs have been damaged and will be damaged in an amount in excess of Ten Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00).
TWELVTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY AS TO DEFENDANT LRC, DEFENDANTS FLASKEY, WARD, BEIDEL, & VACKO, AS WELL AS DEFENDANTS JOHN DOE OFFICERS, and JOHN DOE DIRECTORS)
376. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 375, above.
377. The Defendants named herein as officers, directors and shareholder of Defendant LRC, including John Doe Officers and John Doe Directors whose identity may be established at a later date, owed a fiduciary duty to the creditors of the various entities, including Plaintiffs, during the penumbra of insolvency, to marshal the assets of the entities in trust and distribute them to its creditors, including Plaintiffs, rather than taking such assets for their own purposes and benefits.
378. To the extent Defendant LRC has distributed assets to any of its officers, directors and shareholders rather than performing its obligation or holding such assets for creditors, Defendant LRC and its officers, directors and shareholders have breached their fiduciary and other duties to Plaintiffs and are individually liable to Plaintiffs to the extent of any such distribution. 
THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(UNFAIR AND DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES)
379. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 378, above.

380. The acts and omissions of Defendants as set forth herein were in or effecting commerce and constitute unfair and deceptive trade practices as prescribed by Chapter 75 of the North Carolina General Statutes.
381. Upon information and belief, the Defendants engaged in a conspiracy to defraud Plaintiffs and have otherwise engaged in a pattern and practice of deceitful, unethical, immoral and unscrupulous activities that offended the established public policy of the State of North Carolina and are in violation of Chapter 75 of the North Carolina General Statutes.
382. Upon information and belief, in addition to the acts and omissions previously set forth herein, the Defendants engaged in a pattern and practice of using “insider sales” to artificially inflate the comparables for the subsequent appraisal of lots within Grey Rock and otherwise misrepresented the security of the Plaintiffs investment by, including but not limited to, providing overstated statements of financial conditions which were insufficient to fully cover the Plaintiffs’ potential losses.

383. Further, many Plaintiffs have inquired of Defendant LRC as to the ability to re-sale their lots in an effort to minimize their losses.  Defendant LRC responded to such requests and informed several Plaintiffs that their sales people are not allowed to do re-sales or that re-sales were not attractive to Defendant LRC’s sales people due to the commission variation of 10% for new lot sales and 3% for re-sales.  Specifically, some Plaintiffs were informed by Defendants that many agents would not take their listing because they did not want to “take their Mercedes” on the road like it was in having to show the lot to potential purchasers.
384. The unlawful and deceptive acts and omissions of Defendants as set forth herein proximately caused actual injury and damages to Plaintiffs.
385. Plaintiffs are entitled to have and recover of and from Defendants damages in an amount in excess of Ten Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00).

386. Pursuant to N.C.G.S. §75-16, Plaintiffs are entitled to have any damages awarded as a result of Defendants’ unfair and deceptive trade practices trebled. 

387. Pursuant to N.C.G.S. §75-16.1, Plaintiffs are entitled to recover attorney fees from Defendants.
FOURTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(INJUNCTIVE RELIEF)
388. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 387, above.

389. That Wachovia has released their pro-rata interest in all roads, common areas, preserved areas and amenities for all lots which they have released in Grey Rock as represented by the ratable lots unsold at the time of their foreclosure.

390. That Defendant Wachovia is specifically directed and enjoined from affecting Plaintiffs’ ownership in and to roads, common areas and the promised amenities.
FIFTHTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(PUNITIVE DAMAGES)
391. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate Paragraphs 1 through 390, above.
392. The acts and omissions of Defendants as set forth herein were malicious, willful and wanton and done with a reckless and wanton disregard of the rights of Plaintiffs.
393. Plaintiffs are entitled to recover punitive damages pursuant to Chapter 1D-15, et seq. of the North Carolina General Statutes as a result of Defendants’ malicious, willful and wanton acts and omissions as set forth herein.

WHEREFORE Plaintiffs respectfully pray the Court for the following relief:
a. That Defendant LRC be required to specifically perform the contracts between the parties;

b. That Plaintiffs have and recover of and from the Defendants, jointly and severally, their damages same being an amount in excess of Ten Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00);

c. That Plaintiffs have and recover all expenses including reasonable attorney fees as provided in the Interstate Land Sales Act; 
d. That the Court enter a permanent injunction freezing the assets  of Defendants as set forth herein, including specifically the personal assets of Defendant Flaskey, Defendant Ward, Defendant Beidel, and Defendant Vacko as well as John Doe Officer and John Doe Director at which time they are identified; 

e. That the Court temporarily enjoin Defendant Flaskey, Defendant Ward, Defendant Beidel, and Defendant Vacko as well as John Doe Officer and John Doe Director at which time they are identified from leaving the country;

f. For rescission of the Plaintiffs’ deeds upon Defendants returning to Plaintiffs the monies which Plaintiffs have paid to Defendants and others;

g. That Plaintiffs have and recover of and from Defendants their attorney fees pursuant to N.C.G.S. §75-16.1;
h. That Plaintiffs’ damages be trebled pursuant to N.C.G.S. §75-16;

i. That Defendant Wachovia be deemed to have released pro-rata all interest in and to common areas, amenities and improvements located in the Grey Rock Development as well as any interest it may have in the Lake House Dock and amenities;

j. That the cost of this action be taxed to Defendants, including Plaintiffs’ reasonable attorney fees; 
k. For a trial by a jury of the Citizens of Rutherford County; and

l. For such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.
Respectfully submitted this the 
 day of September.
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